

## **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

# Organizational Continuity Planning for Small Nonprofit **Organizations**

Lucy Castro Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Public Policy Commons

## Walden University

College of Health Sciences & Public Policy

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Lucy Castro

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

## **Review Committee**

Dr. Gary Kelsey, Committee Chairperson, Public Policy and Administration Faculty Dr. Michael Knight, Committee Member, Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

## Abstract

Organizational Continuity Planning for Small Nonprofit Organizations

by

Lucy Castro

MPA, Strayer University, 2016
BPS, Metropolitan College of New York, 2008

Professional Administrative Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Public Administration

Walden University

November 2023

#### Abstract

Natural and manufactured disasters may negatively affect a nonprofit organization's ability to meet its mission. Organizational continuity planning is one tool to help an organization remain practical and mission focused when faced with a natural or manufactured disaster. This qualitative case study explored the essential elements of organizational continuity planning for small nonprofit organizations. Disaster management theory and emergency management theory were used to frame the study. Three research questions guided the study exploring the internal organizational infrastructure challenges organizational leaders face during natural or manufactured disasters; the ways organizational continuity planning assisted nonprofit leaders in providing needed services during times of natural and manufactured disasters; and the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan. Eight nonprofit organization leaders who had successfully implemented continuity planning took part in case study interviews. Interview results were inductively analyzed for themes, which were effective communication, resources, and safety. Findings may be used to improve positive social change through strategies small nonprofit organizational leaders utilize to address internal organizational infrastructure issues and the challenges of supplying needed services to their constituents when natural and manufactured disasters occur.

## Organizational Continuity Planning for Small Nonprofit Organizations

by

## Lucy Castro

MPA, Strayer University, 2016

BPS, Metropolitan College of New York, 2008

Professional Administrative Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Public Administration

Walden University

November 2023

#### Dedication

This entire journey is dedicated to my beautiful mother, Sonia Luz Castro! Thank you for believing in me when I did not believe in myself. I thank you for all the years that we had together as mother and daughter to form the most complex relationships one can ever have in life. Being so young when you started having children must have been incredibly challenging for you, I know, because I followed in your footsteps. I thank God that I was born to aid you in all that life would throw your way. I thank YOU for all those lessons you taught me; I did not think I would need them but true to form, they enabled me to deal with dysfunctional situations and helped me navigate unkind prejudices.

I thank God that I stayed with you, worked with you as you said goodbye to all the demons and drugs. I sincerely loved and love you. Thank you, my beautiful butterfly; you transformed and evolved into a beautiful, kind, loving mom, and I am grateful for all the struggles and all the victories. Thank you for showing me that I am my mother's daughter! I am you with an education! An education that was not afforded to you.

Thank you for loving both of your granddaughters with all your heart. You showed up every time no matter what event it was. Whether a childhood race around the school yard or a concert at a famous church, you showed up for them with pride and joy and a big smile! You always told anyone and everyone who would listen that I was your sunset and sunrise, and now I live every day to see sunsets and sunrises without you. Every sunset and every sunrise remind me of your unconditional crazy love for me, your laughter and high fives, your smile, your beautiful singing voice, and your zest for life. Thank you for everything, Mom. I absolutely love you with all my heart! Remember our

pinky promise. I become the first Dr. Castro in all the generations, and you will call me Dr. Daughter for a week straight. I know that God will allow me to hear your beautiful voice in the wind whispering Dr. Daughter, and I look so forward to hearing your beautiful happy loving voice once again. I love you more than words could ever say, and I miss you everyday of my life.

## Acknowledgments

To my Titi Nores/My Honey: Thank you for being my second mom and for raising me as if I were your own daughter and not your niece. I miss our friendship, vacations, and support! Please know that I will always miss you and that I truly love you.

**My Beautiful Daughters:** Latoya Nicole and Allyssa Evette, thank you for your support and love throughout our growing years. I couldn't have made it without each of you. I love you guys more than words will ever express.

**Ralph Castro:** My brother and friend, thank you for protecting me and loving me throughout my life, and for helping me with all my tech issues during this academic journey. You are simply the best!

**Theresa Ruth Miller**: I love you, my best friend! Thank you for allowing me to cry throughout this journey and for always being a good friend to me since childhood.

**Dr, Kelsey,** and **Binh,** thank you both for being honorable men. **Binh,** thank you for helping me and supporting me after my trauma in Residence 2. I cried for a year straight until you found a resolve for me and allowed me to fight for this degree and achieve my dreams of becoming Dr. Castro. **Dr. Kelsey,** thank you for your support, your patience, your kindness, and your guidance. I will always remember both of you for your professionalism and your support. A Special thank you to **Mr. Brown,** for your patience and kindness, keep being you.

## Table of Contents

Sec	ction 1: Introduction to the Problem	1
	Organization Background and Problem Statement	2
	Purpose	4
	Research Questions	5
	Summary of Data Sources and Analysis	5
	Definitions	5
	Significance	7
	Key Stakeholders	7
	Implications for Public Administration	8
	Summary	8
Sec	ction 2: Conceptual Approach and Background	9
	Literature Search Strategy	9
	Conceptual Framework	10
	Disaster Management Theory	. 10
	Principles of Emergency Management Theory	. 12
	Organizational Continuity Planning Defined	. 13
	History of Organizational Continuity Planning	. 15
	Knowledge Management	. 17
	Natural and Manufactured Disasters	18
	Global Warming	20
	Disruption of Services	22

	Internal Organization Infrastructure	27		
	Essential Elements of Continuity Plans	27		
	Relevance to Public Organizations	28		
	Literature Review for the Study	28		
	Organization Background and Context	29		
	Summary	30		
Se	ction 3: Data Collection Process and Analysis	31		
	Research Design	31		
	Roles of the Researcher and Client Organization	32		
	Methodology	33		
	Protections	34		
	Participants	34		
	Procedures	34		
	Timeline	36		
	Protections	36		
	Strategy for Data Analysis	37		
	Issues of Trustworthiness	38		
	Ethical Procedures	38		
	Summary	40		
Section 4: Evaluation and Recommendations				
	Data Collection	42		
	Data Analysis	43		

Findings	44
Deliverables and Recommendations	45
Organizational Continuity Planning	45
Interview Themes	49
Evidence of Trustworthiness	50
Strengths and Limitations of the Study	54
Summary	55
Section 5: Dissemination Plan	56
Dissemination Plan	56
Summary	58
References	59
Appendix A: Letter of Invitation	65
Appendix B: Interview Questions	66

### Section 1: Introduction to the Problem

Located in the Eastern United States, Disaster Assistance Organization ABC (pseudonym) is a thriving nonprofit organization receiving awards and funding from the government for its ability to help local communities. ABC supplies nutritional aid, voucher checks, and housing options and services to its older citizens and supports youths in the community. ABC also offers employment and computer training to young adults 18–25 years old. ABC employs seven people, including a director, an assistant director, and four case managers. Due to the increasing number of natural and manufactured disasters and the lack of an organizational continuity plan, ABC had struggled to supply services to its constituents and address its internal infrastructure. This qualitative case study examined the effects of natural and manufactured disasters on nonprofit organizations that do not have organizational continuity planning and documented the essential elements of a plan from other existing nonprofits that employ a continuity plan.

Organizational continuity planning maximizes the probability that small nonprofits continue to offer needed services to their communities, protects internal organizational infrastructure, protects assets, and supplies resilience in natural and manufactured disasters. In 2012, The Southeast United States experienced Hurricane Sandy, which left hundreds of millions of dollars of damages in its path. A succession of natural and manufactured disasters followed in the ensuing years, forcing the small nonprofit to close its doors for months, leaving its constituents without critical services. In part, this might have been due to the lack of an organizational continuity plan. This organization was not the only nonprofit to experience setbacks during natural or

manufactured disasters. In the wake of a disaster, nonprofits find it challenging to supply services to their community, leaving constituents scrambling to find help.

Having a plan for organizational continuity is critical for small nonprofit organizations because they supply essential services to their constituents, enhancing the economy, producing healthier communities, and enabling vocational services to be offered (Ono & Watanabe, 2017). In addition to documenting the service gaps that occurred when an organization faced natural or manufactured disaster, this qualitative case study outlined the essential elements senior leadership needed to create a continuity plan. Organizational continuity planning may prevent small nonprofits from permanent closure and help others from experiencing setbacks due to these recurring disasters. Findings of the study supplied the elements necessary to create a practical organizational continuity plan for ABC. This may enable ABC leadership to develop and support the required infrastructure during a disaster to maximize its ability to provide needed services.

### **Organization Background and Problem Statement**

ABC is one of the highest-ranking organizations among other nonprofit organizations in New York for supplying nutritional aid, voucher checks, and housing options services to its older citizens and supporting its youths in the community.

However, after facing challenges due to a series of natural and manufactured disasters due to the lack of a continuity plan, its ability to meet its mission suffered. In 2012, ABC experienced issues with natural disasters and realized that organizational continuity planning might be a way to address its challenges. ABC reported that Hurricane Sandy

laid bare the shortcomings of its internal organizational infrastructure, making services challenging to provide for its constituents.

ABC and thousands of other small nonprofits do not have organizational continuity plans to aid when natural and manufactured disasters strike. This qualitative case study investigated their problems without such a plan by gathering data from other nonprofit organizations that have a continuity plan and preparing a report on essential elements of an organizational continuity plan. According to the literature, small nonprofit organizations without organizational continuity plans are vulnerable and unprepared to recover from natural and manufactured disasters, and this has an impact on needed services to the community. The organizations are restricted in managing the proper responses when disasters strike, creating a significant disturbance to their internal organizational infrastructure and their ability to provide needed services to their constituents. Without this plan, they face a severe disadvantage when they need to react quickly to events that could cause permanent closure. The first 2 days following a disaster are critical in figuring out whether the organization will survive (Gin et al., 2018).

Organizational continuity plans can be developed by examining any existing plans, procedures, and provisional challenges within the organization. By gathering data and expounding on the essential elements that detail a practical organizational continuity plan, ABC and other small nonprofits can better address internal infrastructure challenges with the goal of decreasing the number of permanent closures of such organizations in the future. This qualitative case study examined the effects that natural and manufactured

disasters had on nonprofit organizations that do not have organizational continuity planning and explored the essential elements of a plan from other existing nonprofits that employ continuity planning by gathering data and formulating a report on the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan.

## **Purpose**

This qualitative case study addressed the issues that arise when nonprofit organizations do not have organizational continuity planning. Like thousands of other small nonprofit organizations, ABC had yet to explore the opportunity of organizational continuity planning. Organizational continuity planning may help ABC meet its mission statement by providing needed services to its constituents.

Organizational continuity plans are strategic procedures that identify the four Ps in organizational continuity: plans, processes, procedures, and policies. They ensure the continuity of all organizational functions when natural and manufactured disasters occur (Tucker, 2015). Current study findings may allow ABC and other nonprofits in the Eastern United States address internal organizational infrastructure issues and supply needed support to continue their critical work by supplying needed services to their constituents after natural or manufactured disasters. A practical organizational continuity plan for small nonprofit organizations such as ABC identifies the risks, and current findings will be shared with stakeholders and leaders to mitigate damages. A cost-effective organizational continuity plan may boost financial performance and protect the value of the organization. I collected data on the essential elements needed to develop a sustainable organizational continuity plan for ABC.

## **Research Questions**

RQ1: What internal organizational infrastructure challenges do organizational leaders face during natural or manufactured disasters?

RQ2: In what ways can organizational continuity planning assist nonprofit leaders in providing needed services during times of natural and manufactured disasters?

RQ3: What are the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan?

## **Summary of Data Sources and Analysis**

To answer the research questions in this qualitative administrative case study, I gathered and analyzed interview data on the essential elements needed to develop a practical organizational continuity plan. Qualitative methodology assists researchers when intense research and understanding are needed regarding phenomena without using numerical data (Feng & Behar-Horenstein, 2019). This administrative case study included interviews with eight leaders of nonprofit organizations with an organizational continuity plan to understand how to help those without an organizational continuity plan. Findings may help nonprofit leaders at ABC understand the need for organizational continuity planning and the essential elements in a continuity plan.

## **Definitions**

Organizational continuity planning has evolved from thoughts of a threat that could affect technology and data to a shutdown of nonprofit organizations and their daily operations. During the 1970s, when organizational continuity planning was determined to be a necessary procedure for a nonprofit's success, the questions were simple: Should

nonprofit owners create organizational continuity plans to prevent future events? Do preexisting threats justify the need for strategic investments?

During the 1990s, organizational continuity planning was considered by owners to be stealthy in action. However, from 1990 to 2001, broader influences were associated with organizational continuity planning, with most small business owners implementing a business plan. However, small nonprofit organizations did not follow suit by adding organizational continuity planning.

After the World Trade Center bombing in 2001, an organizational continuity plan was an element policymakers demanded of small nonprofit owners. From 2002 to 2005, internationalization took hold along with organizational continuity planning with specific policies to promote resilience worldwide. However, from 2006 to 2010, thousands of small nonprofit owners complained about the lack of certainty that organizational continuity plans had, and the amount of money spent each year to protect against unforeseen events. Owners argued that although organizational continuity planning supplied resilience, predicting natural and manufactured disasters was expensive.

Most small nonprofit organizations thought the chances of a natural or manufactured disaster affecting their organization were low; therefore, organizational continuity plans were discussed but not prioritized Josephson et al. (2017) found that having an organizational continuity plan supplies small nonprofit organizations with resilience. Resilience is the ability of organizations to absorb stressors and return to the state they were in before disruptions occurred. It was not until 2011 that continuity planning changed, and the reengineering began to include how planning could address

issues facing small nonprofits during natural and manufactured disasters. This combination was a momentous change; it added to the American people's protection, addressed natural and manufactured disasters and terrorism, reduced permanent closures, and enabled small nonprofit owners to continue helping their constituents. Organizational continuity planning succeeded in articulating the organization's needs during disasters instead of reacting after unforeseen events, which helped end permanent closures.

## **Significance**

This administrative case study may help ABC and other small nonprofits understand organizational continuity planning along with the essential elements of organizational continuity planning, internal organizational infrastructure, and how to provide needed services after natural and manufactured disasters. The findings may change how small nonprofit organizational leaders think about organizational continuity planning and how such planning can alleviate internal organizational infrastructure issues and needed services during natural and manufactured disasters. The administrative case study may allow small nonprofit organizations, leaders, and stakeholders understand the influence such planning has on small nonprofit organizations and how such plans help organizations support the community and supply the services needed when disaster strikes. This study may also help leaders and stakeholders think creatively as they prepare for disasters.

## **Key Stakeholders**

The key stakeholders of the administrative case study included the leaders of ABC. ABC had one senior director, one assistant director, and four case managers

working remotely due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The leaders had been members of the organization for more than 15 years and had firsthand knowledge of organizational continuity planning.

## **Implications for Public Administration**

This qualitative case study and its recommendations may help small nonprofit organizations, stakeholders, and leaders understand the need for an organizational continuity plan and how to address the challenges faced during natural and manufactured disasters that prevent the organization from supplying needed services to its constituents. The findings may support approaches that add to existing services and create positive social change.

## **Summary**

Section 1 detailed the problems small nonprofit organizations face without an organizational continuity plan and the internal infrastructure issues that plague small nonprofits when a natural and manufactured disaster occurs. In Section 2, a literature review addresses strategies to prevent internal infrastructure challenges and what can be done to avoid delays in needed services during natural and manufactured disasters. This literature review was aligned with the qualitative organizational continuity planning case study and its benefits for small nonprofit organizations.

## Section 2: Conceptual Approach and Background

ABC is a thriving nonprofit organization receiving awards and funding from the government for its ability to help communities. However, 2012 was the first time that ABC realized that supplying needed services had become problematic due to Hurricane Sandy and the lack of a continuity plan. The agency's ability to supply needed services declined during Hurricane Sandy, leaving the small nonprofit vulnerable and delaying the work it does so well. The current study may serve as a model for other small nonprofit organizations that face such challenges. Organizations that do not have an organizational continuity plan are vulnerable to disasters, including internal organizational issues, delays in services, and chances of survival. This qualitative case study investigated the problems small nonprofits face without such a plan. I collected data and prepared a report on the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan for ABC. I answered the research questions through qualitative interview with eight leaders of local organizations with organizational continuity plans.

### **Literature Search Strategy**

I explored research that included organizational continuity planning for small nonprofit organizations. I also explored business continuity planning and management to gauge how other industries protect their business with continuity planning when natural and manufactured disasters occur. I evaluated data found in published books, peer-reviewed journals, and government websites. To identify relevant literature, I searched the following databases: ProQuest Central, EBSCOhost, and Google Scholar in the Walden University Library, which helped me frame my case study. Some of the key

businesses, organizational continuity plans, the principle of emergency management theory, disaster management theory, knowledge management, and natural and manufactured disasters. Recent studies addressed the devastation of small nonprofit organizations and the communities they served. Keywords such as communication, resources, training, and safety were added to enrich the literature search outcomes and provide the main concepts of organizational continuity planning for small nonprofit organizations. The literature review contained material from 80 peer-reviewed journal articles; however, 43 peer-reviewed journal articles were used in this qualitative case study. I also used one book, two web pages, and one governmental agency (Federal Emergency Management Agency [FEMA]). Ninety-five percent of referenced literature sources were published within the past 6 years, from 2017 to 2023, and 5% of referenced literature reviews were published from 2015 to 2017. The publication dates for the literature used ranged from 2015 to 2023.

### **Conceptual Framework**

### **Disaster Management Theory**

Disaster management theory and emergency management theory are used to analyze potential threats and implement preventive strategies to protect against property damage and deaths during natural and manufactured disasters. Disaster management theory is used to alleviate threats and safeguard lives from the aftermath of a disaster. Disaster management theory is a modification strategy used to analyze potential hazards and protect against those threats with contingency plans (Seaberg et al., 2017).

Disaster management was created during the Carter administration in the 1970s after four hurricanes: Agnes, Eloise, David, and Frederick. These natural disasters affected the East Coast, the Caribbean, and other areas of the United States. Some agencies helped during and after these disasters and in emergency and disaster relief; however, President Carter realized the agencies needed to be equipped to supply mass relief and created FEMA. At the time, the agency used the principles of disaster management to address all incidents. Over time, other theories were developed to address specific areas of concern because disasters happen in four categories: natural, manufactured, accidental, and deliberate.

The importance of understanding this concept helps nonprofit leaders plan for disaster. Because most disasters are natural, it is easier to prepare for natural disasters, although this can be difficult. When manufactured disasters occur, there are hundreds of reasons for their creation. Thompson et al. (2016) noted that natural disasters can be predicted and addressed, and the area in which they will occur can determine what action organizational leaders take. For instance, humid, warm climates have higher chances for hurricanes, while colder climates are more likely to experience blizzards, extreme and deadly temperatures, and avalanches. Disaster management theory and emergency management theory address all four categories by analyzing potential threats, implementing preventive strategies, mitigating property damage, and securing lives. However, disaster management and emergency management are not organizational continuity plans. I used these theories to explore the origins of continuity planning and its evolution over time.

## **Principles of Emergency Management Theory**

Emergency management theory has been around for decades; however, the concepts have changed. Emergency management theory started as a subdiscipline of public administration and public safety and, over the years, evolved to take on an identity of its own. Emergency management has evolved and is characterized by the attempt to identify and deal with potential hazards, threats, and disasters. Emergency management is a responsive action with strategic ideas to aid in the aftermath of a disaster or crisis. Emergency management's primary strategy is distributing resources to a community after disasters (Bodrožić & Adler, 2017). Although public administrators understand that large-scale emergencies can happen, the theory is applied after an entity has been affected.

According to this theory, disaster plus provocation equals vulnerability.

Vulnerability happens when provoked threats create disasters in small nonprofit organizations that lack organizational continuity plans. This paradigm helps researchers understand why problems arise and how they can be resolved (Klijn et al., 2015). The current case study included a historical look into how government agencies addressed natural and manufactured disasters. However, due to evolutionary periods, concepts, and theories, other strategies are often included for individual entities. Organizational continuity plans are strategic tools that enable nonprofit organizations to deal with natural and manufactured disasters. Organizational continuity planning is the opposite of emergency management techniques in that it is initiative taking, not reactive. Disaster management theory is used to organize resources and distribute tasks to deal with issues

that affect humanity; organizational continuity planning addresses all matters that concern nonprofit organizations. Organizational continuity planning can address provisional issues and internal organizational infrastructure challenges and protect the health of a small nonprofit organization so that it can continue to supply needed services to its constituents.

## **Organizational Continuity Planning Defined**

Organizational continuity planning is a strategy proven to protect nonprofit organizations from experiencing setbacks when natural and manufactured disasters occur. Experience has shown that contingency planning helps nonprofit organizations cope with catastrophes and enables them to continue supplying needed services while keeping their reputation intact and staff members safe. Contingency planning also allows the organization to protect its daily operations and be resilient during natural and manufactured disasters. Resilience is a vital part of organizational continuity planning. Resilience allows the organization to absorb the pressures associated with natural or manufactured disasters and allows the organization to resume operational services after a disruption.

The disruptions that occur during disasters affect the core functions and restrict areas of operation. The first 2 hours of trouble are crucial to any organization during this period. This is when recovery should begin; with organizational continuity planning, the organization should be able to start operational functions at once. During this phase, an organizational continuity plan's recovery strategies enable leaders to restore core functions affected by natural or manufactured disasters. Within the next 12 hours, the

organization should be running at a moderate level, and within 5 days the organization will be at total capacity.

Organizational continuity planning allows a nonprofit organization to recover after 5 days of a disaster when the business impact analysis in the plan is used. The business impact analysis provides time-sensitive solutions to prevent gaps in daily operations and allow a nonprofit organization to recover when an unexpected incident occurs. The recovery strategy is a significant part of organizational continuity planning; it helps leaders find internal organizational infrastructure issues, mitigate financial risk, and supply needed services to small nonprofit organizations. Chikoto et al. (2012) noted that the most critical components of organizational continuity planning are its strategic planning. Păunescu and Argatu (2020) agreed that initiative-taking approaches to disaster preparation, rather than reactive approaches, will end the high percentage of internal organizational issues. Strategic planning can predetermine and target recovery to achieve complete restoration of operations.

The current study addressed organizational continuity planning and internal organizational infrastructure challenges in supplying needed services to constituents. I also highlighted the acceptance of recovery strategies that small nonprofits need to educate themselves. The literature showed that implementing organizational continuity planning for small nonprofit organizations can reduce permanent closure after disasters. If small nonprofit organizations are concerned about such tragedies, it is not clear why thousands do not have an organizational continuity plan. Organizational continuity plans are tools nonprofit organizations and social service agencies use to prevent threats to the

organization. The recovery strategies measure interruptions when operational procedures have been affected. The operating systems involved can range from power outages to internal infrastructure damage. Organizational continuity planning allows an organization to protect its core functions, continue supplying needed services, and become resilient during disasters. Organizational continuity planning for nonprofit organizations is needed because natural and manufactured disasters are increasing, and government financial aid is decreasing.

In 2020, nonprofit organizations suffered financial losses due to a lack of organizational continuity planning. The COVID-19 pandemic forced organizations worldwide to reevaluate how operational procedures would continue after the mandates from the government. Nonprofit organizational leaders and employees began working remotely. Leaders found that nonprofit organizations suffered losses due to a lack of organizational continuity planning and knowledge management. Leaders now understand that organizational continuity planning is needed to sustain organizational operations before, during, and after disasters and disruptions. Sydnor et al. (2016) found that continuity planning requires training and applying policies and techniques to diminish the consequences of operational disruptions. Organizations that implement continuity plans are more likely to succeed.

## **History of Organizational Continuity Planning**

Organizational continuity planning addresses how natural and manufactured disasters affected organizations. The scenarios of applying a practical organizational continuity plan for a nonprofit organization were how leaders viewed organizational

continuity planning, including strategies to ensure that the nonprofit organization would avoid permanent closure. However, due to the rate of natural and manufactured disasters, organizational leaders are now focused on the impact instead of the potential scenario, implying that the potential scenarios could have been more effective, time-consuming, and expensive. However, understanding the phenomenon was better with the utilization of developing theories (Penta et al., 2017). It was also vital to look at the organization's resources and its personnel's skills and how they can be used to develop a response to disasters. The three vital areas to analyze are people, technology, and operational process. By studying people, technology, and operational processes, leaders can summarize disturbances in crucial areas of the organization and address measures to mitigate damages by implementing business impact assessments in their organizational continuity plans.

Due to the increasing occurrences of natural and manufactured disasters, ideas once considered ineffective are now considered feasible. The increasing complexity of natural disasters included a crippling COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. This natural disaster killed over 800,000 U.S. citizens (about half the population of Idaho) and shut down the economy. The pandemic forced all organizational leaders to rethink business continuity planning and reevaluate their strategic plans because a pandemic of this proportion had not been seen here since 1918 (the Spanish influenza). However, potential scenarios in most organizational continuity plans did not factor in viral pandemic challenges. The historical assessment of policy and procedures changed with organizational employees and leaders working from home. During this time, leaders looked at the parts of the

organizational continuity plan that did not work and focused on those that did. Employees could supply services to their constituents via the internet but calls for physically needed services went unanswered. Leaders are now scrutinizing internal audits to determine what organizational continuity planning areas worked during the pandemic. Analyzing data may enable nonprofit organizations to examine where there were prosperous areas and what avenues were less so, thereby indicating better solutions to internal organizational infrastructure issues.

## **Knowledge Management**

Knowledge management is capturing, distributing, and using the available knowledge and collectively sharing that knowledge. Sanders (2016) noted that data information and knowledge, such as knowledge management, allow nonprofit organizations to share vital information through collective learning. Although knowledge management is used globally among other industries, integrating it into nonprofit organizations is complex due to nonprofit leaders' lackadaisical approach to educating staff members. In one survey, 50% of nonprofit organizations knew about or had experienced training in knowledge management, but only 20% knew how to use it. However, this affected the other 50% of all nonprofit organizations that lacked organizational continuity plans due to the lack of knowledge in both organizational contunity planning and knowledge management.

Knowledge management promotes effectiveness, efficiency, and transparency. If used appropriately, other nonprofit organizations can share and learn from each other. A perfect example is when a worker either retires or leaves the organization, and although

everyone sees the work every day, no one knows what they did in their job ability. This is a disadvantage to the organization because of the historical knowledge left after the employee's departure. Training staff in knowledge management can be done via Skype and Zoom with other nonprofit organizational leaders and employees nationwide and is particularly helpful when organizations work remotely, as during the Covid-19 pandemic. The excitement of learning and sharing vital information with other nonprofit organizations can help all involved by taking the guesswork out of what is needed in large organizations and what is needed for small nonprofit organizations, thus, helping to keep the procedure simple. The thought that organizations are different and, thus, organizational continuity planning must be different is invalid. State Chang and Lin (2015) note that the three crucial areas of concern should be people, technology, and operational processes, and accomplish fundamental objectives, which will, in turn, help knowledge management and create internal organizational infrastructure challenges, and supply needed services to constituents.

## **Natural and Manufactured Disasters**

Hurricane Sandy and its effects on New York City: October 2012 was the deadliest hurricane to hit New York City, with winds raging at 100 mph. Hurricane Sandy killed 160 people, destroyed thousands of homes and businesses, left 9 million people (about half of the population of New York City) without power, and shut down its extensive transportation system, the Metropolitan Transportation Authority.

Communications were a significant issue, forcing the Federal Communication

Commissioner to rethink its communication strategies for future disasters. Since then,

Hurricane Sandy policy and procedures changed, new methods for small nonprofit organizations were added, and a mandate was issued to all small nonprofit organizations to implement organizational continuity planning and recovery strategies by the government. The realization that organizational continuity planning could prevent issues the city faced was a meaningful change. However, the need for more resources for small nonprofit owners to implement organizational continuity plans in their establishment was a significant issue. Small nonprofit organizations throughout the United States, especially in low-income communities, needed more resources to implement such plans. However, the knowledge that small nonprofit organizations in low-income communities are vital to the community because they offer immediate relief to their community is well known, but finding resources is still a struggle (Nickels & Clark, 2019). The Small Business Administration supplied a grant of \$8 million to 92 small nonprofit organizations, including assistance in developing organizational continuity plans, training, and technical assistance for low-income owners. (United States Small Business Administration, n.d.). However, there are more than 1.54 million nonprofit organizations in the United States, with 92 receiving grants, leaving millions needing more resources to develop a viable plan for their establishments or provide their families with necessities. According to Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs, if people's basic needs or those of organizations are not met, meeting the needs of their constituents will also be difficult, often resulting in both the inability to help them, forcing them to close and adding to economic destruction in the communities they serve. Developing an organizational continuity plan that offers smaller nonprofit organizations strategies to resolve internal organizational infrastructure

challenges is crucial. It can aid in supplying needed services to the community after natural and manufactured disasters. It will also help with resources left for small nonprofit owners to give to their families, showing an exact picture and understanding of Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs theory.

### **Global Warming**

Since the 1970s, scientists have warned against global warming. An article in Time magazine expressed the concerns of oil companies causing damage to the Earth's climate. 1977 Time magazine wrote about the "coming of a new ice age and how to survive it." At that time, Dr. Murray Mitchell warned the world that the beginning of global cooling could become problematic due to the destruction of the Earth's climate. Dr. Mitchell spoke about the need to rescue the Earth and how the destruction of the Earth's climate three or four decades on could create natural disasters due to the Earth's atmosphere decreasing about 20 degrees Fahrenheit. PR Newswire. (2017, August 8). In the 43 years since that scientific prediction of global cooling and warming, human beings and wildlife are now experiencing the results of mass hurricanes, wildfires, cyclones, rising tides, and floods. In the past 43 years, New York City has experienced more than ten hurricanes, each more deadly in its wake, destroying homes, businesses, infrastructure, small nonprofit organizations, and the economy.

The need for organizational continuity planning for all nonprofit organizations is vital since governmental aid from Federal Emergency Management Agency is declining due to the increased demand due to more of these disasters across the nation. Federal Emergency Management Agency, on May 1, 2018, FEMA discussed natural and

manufactured disaster issues. The concern was that Americans needed to be financially prepared and emotionally aware of the consequences of such disasters. A significant problem FEMA speaker Dr. Daniel Kaniewski had was that 40 percent of Americans did not have \$500 in savings and could not obtain any money in a natural or manufactured disaster. Mr. Kaniewski said that the average American would be out of luck during a disaster and that preparation is the best recovery choice. (Federal Emergency Management, n.d.). When comparing the cost of hurricane damage, data shows that Hurricane Harvey caused the most damage in dollars in 2017, costing the government \$125 billion (about \$380 per person in the US) in aid. Although FEMA aided individuals with \$4,000 grants, only certain people received the total amount offered by the National Flood Insurance Program, and this program was not intended for small nonprofit organizations. Due to the many emergencies the United States faces each year, from hurricanes, wildfires, earthquakes, cyclones, rising seas, and floods, FEMA relief funds are strained, and resources to aid small nonprofit organizations have become daunting. The first two days after a natural disaster are critical for small nonprofit organizations; this is the first stage of assessing whether the small nonprofit organizations will even survive. Organizational continuity planning can protect small nonprofit organizations and resolve internal organizational infrastructure issues to address all problems in supplying services to their constituents when natural and manufactured disasters occur. This research correlates with the administrative case study and the direct effects disasters have on small nonprofit organizations due to the lack of organizational continuity plans and disruption of services.

## **Disruption of Services**

Service disruptions caused by disasters negatively affect small nonprofit organizations, preventing them from getting needed services to their constituents and causing internal organizational infrasture issues. Since September 11, 2001, the United States and parts of the world have experienced a new era that consists of adjusting behaviors in how relationships among suppliers and daily operations progress.

The new actions help with provisional issues and managing response times during natural and manufactured disasters. These ideas were implemented to secure services during disruption and secure relationships with different vendors to ensure a consistent flow of services. However, small nonprofit organizations did not begin implementing organizational continuity planning until after the 2001 terrorist attacks, with nonprofit organizations assuming the chances of it happening again were slim to none. Manufactured disasters are not the only ones that can negatively affect an organization, as natural disasters still are the most significant cause of an organization's permanent closure. Throughout the years, small nonprofit organizations have closed permanently after disasters. Because mandates were not officially in place and small nonprofits needed to understand that the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan could prevent issues, small nonprofit organizations opted out of developing and implementing them. Nonprofit owners had since regretted operating without organizational continuity plans that would have protected their establishments when disasters occurred. Thousands of small nonprofit owners are permanently closed but still face repayment of loans and property taxes. The thoughts of 'What if... enter the minds of failed small nonprofit

owners, knowing that their small nonprofit organization might still be around to service their communities if they implemented organizational continuity plans.

Experts state that the response time between a disaster strike and the ensuing response of management is crucial to a small nonprofit organization's survival. Experts note that disruption's first 48 hours (about two days) can predict survival or permanent closure. The need to develop an organizational continuity plan will prevent permanent closures and address significant issues associated with natural and manufactured disasters. Forty-three percent of small nonprofit organizations and companies without organizational continuity plans are also susceptible to permanent closure. (Cerullo & Cerullo, 2014). A significant concern is that small nonprofit owners believe they need more financial resources to implement such strategies. The need to work with larger organizations was not seen as a possibility since larger organizations have the income to develop and implement organization continuity plans, and most do. Smaller nonprofit organizations need help with revenue, donors, and knowledge when continuity planning is involved, which creates an imbalance in the low-income communities these small nonprofit organizations serve. There have been bad examples of larger businesses needing to implement continuity planning. The Dole Corporation is the best example of a major company's mistake in excluding continuity planning. It was near bankruptcy due to a lack of continuity planning for its Costa Rica business and realized how critical strategic planning is when natural disasters strike. The owner of Dole Corp. and its stakeholders regretted not creating a business continuity plan in case of a natural disaster, which left it suffering for weeks without any recovery strategies after the natural disaster

occurred in Costa Rica. The natural disaster created a significant blockage in the supply chain to Costa Rica due to flooding and blocked highways that usually transported products to their warehouse. Dole was out of service for three weeks, bringing all productivity to a halt and, in turn, affecting their income and bringing it to the brink of bankruptcy. The Dole Corporation is mentioned to show the effects of not having continuity planning in a company. Small nonprofit organizations that suffer natural and manufactured disasters do not affect the economy on such a large scale. However, minor disasters can affect the communities, the organizations they serve, suppliers, and their local economy.

Disasters Assistance Organization ABC in the Eastern United States knows this first-hand. The organization serves senior citizens who rely on food pantries to minimize food costs and obtain healthier food options (Disaster et al.). However, hundreds of senior citizens found themselves without food due to the closures of local nonprofit organizations in the aftermath of disasters. Disasters Assistance Organization ABC in the Eastern United States helps an estimated 6,975 senior citizens who need food services each year. Still, due to the last natural disaster, the disruption of continued needed services negatively affected the seniors due to the lack of an organizational continuity plan. This resulted in 2,775 seniors obtaining food and an estimated 4,200 going without food or services. The lack of food devastated those citizens' mental, emotional, and physical health. Organizational continuity planning supplies steps to minimize internal organizational infrastructure issues and aid in challenges when natural and manufactured disasters occur. It can also reduce small nonprofit owners' economic effects after natural

or manufactured disasters, including permanent closures that cost them thousands of dollars. The destruction of small nonprofit organizations is due to the need for organizational continuity planning, those further delays nonprofit organizations in addressing internal organizational infrastructure issues and causes delays in needed services to their constituents. Research has found that 78 percent of small nonprofit organizations could not reopen after natural or manufactured disasters due to a lack of proactiveness in creating an organizational continuity plan. In comparison, 22 percent of small nonprofit organizations did reopen, and 15% functioned at the level of a disasterridden business. Many other industries are suffering the same fate. According to Cummings, Haag & McCoubrey found that 43% of all firms that needed a continuity plan never reopened, and 51% failed after two years. The need for continuity planning for all industries is vital and can prevent permanent closure. Muflihah and Subriadi (2019) found that businesses that incorporate business continuity planning have the same coverage as nonprofit organizations that use organizational continuity planning. Historical data shows that natural and manufactured disasters can strike at any moment; the disaster caused by Hurricanes Sandy, Ike, and Rita caused small nonprofit organizations to fail due to loss of downtime, damage to internal infrastructure, and the inability to supply needed services to the community. However, small nonprofit organizations failed simply because there needed to be an organizational continuity plan to protect them against downtime when disaster strikes. The downtime calculations for small nonprofit organizations after Hurricanes Sandy, Ike, and Rita were investigated to understand the total impact on small nonprofit organizations. The interruption reported

downtime hours of 337, or two weeks after Hurricane Sandy; 336 hours (about two weeks) after Hurricane Ike; and 384 hours (about two and a half weeks) after Hurricane Rita. Downtimes cost small nonprofit organizations \$137 to \$17,244.00 per minute. The above-listed hurricanes cost the most damage and lost revenue, costing the government 60 billion dollars in emergency funding. The total impact to small nonprofit organizations in average productivity loss and employees affected, including loss of annual revenues, was an estimated \$2,770,140 per minute, significantly showing how necessary government assistance in organizational continuity plans is for small nonprofit organizations. Small nonprofit owners need to be informed of the positive effects of organizational continuity planning on their organizations. Small nonprofit owners must understand that controlling natural and manufactured disasters might be almost impossible, but positioning themselves with strategies can enable them to survive. Organizational continuity plans allow systems to begin after disaster strikes, thus decreasing the number of internal organizational infrastructure issues and allowing the nonprofits to at once supply needed services in their community. Kato and Charoenrat (2018) described that if small business owners applied business continuity management, they would be better prepared during and after disasters and, inversely, noted that a lack of preparation affected organizational infrastructure and service distribution in disasterprone areas for small nonprofits and small businesses. Small nonprofit owners sometimes make the same mistake before and after natural and manufactured disasters. This is due to the need for more training and understanding of continuity planning. The need for levelheaded, trained, and prepared owners to react after disasters is vital. Organizational

continuity planning ensures that small nonprofit owners will be prepared and qualified when the time comes. A common misperception among owners is that organizational continuity plans are expensive, and if something happens, the chance of governmental aid is excellent. Since 1980, the damages from natural and manufactured disasters have cost the government trillions of dollars and left governmental agencies strained and depleted. Therefore, small nonprofit organizations must develop and implement an organizational continuity plan to decrease their challenges in internal organizational infrastructure issues so they can continue to supply needed services to their constituents and protect the organization's life span.

# **Internal Organization Infrastructure**

Internal organization infrastructure consists of components inside an organization, such as systems training, and methods provided by administrators to achieve its operational goals; it is the foundation and critical basis upon which performance is shown and improved. Kivila and Vuorinen, (2017) noted that developing a sustainable infrastructure would help deliver needed services to its constituents.

### **Essential Elements of Continuity Plans**

The essential elements of continuity planning include assessment, preparedness, response, and recovery. Tracey et al. (2017) described that these fundamental elements enhance organizational or business resilience for a sustainable organization. It allows for critical systems to function, thus, preventing internal organizational infrastructure issues, continually needing services to constituents, and ending permanent closure. Leadership

and owners that abandon the idea of organizational continuity planning impact the community they serve, stakeholders, and employees.

## **Relevance to Public Organizations**

Bennett (2016) described a study to understand why nonprofit organizations fail. The study examined small nonprofits that failed and were unsuccessful in the first few years due to a lack of funding. However, there were other reasons besides the lack of funding. Another reason was the need for an organizational continuity plan and the ability of small nonprofit leaders to understand organizational continuity planning, internal organizational infrastructure, and how that can affect their delivery systems have found periodic gaps in the literature. The information gathered helps show the lack of organizational continuity plans in small nonprofit organizations, the struggles small nonprofit organizations face without organizational continuity plans, and the adverse effects of natural and manufactured disasters. This case study's findings show the positive impacts of organizational continuity planning for small nonprofit organizations and the economic benefits.

### **Literature Review for the Study**

According to the related literature, the primary step in addressing ABC's issues was understanding organizational continuity planning for small nonprofit organizations. Organizational continuity planning can help small nonprofit organizations prepare for natural and manufactured disasters and address systems failures. Ebneyamin et al. (2018) described understanding what, why, and how can effectively supply unknown answers about phenomena through qualitative research. The authors specifically explain that

social, institutional, cultural, and environmental conditions can affect human affairs.

Qualitative research is the only science that can address these issues; it is driven to explain the behavior and thinking of human beings. Through qualitative research, ABC understands how to better prepare for natural and manufactured disasters and supply needed services to its community.

Furthermore, changing its circumstances could improve its internal operational infrastructure. ABC has seen that during the Pandemic, while they were closed, many small nonprofit organizations continued servicing its communities. The strategies used were to implement van deliveries to specific locations in the Bronx to help with needed food service. ABC said that closing their doors to the community was a state decision because of Covid 19.

### **Organization Background and Context**

ABC has supplied services for ten years. Over the years, more services were added as the community needs changed. Paid organization staff comprises one senior director, one assistant director, four case managers, and an office manager in the Eastern United States. All have about 15 years of experience in the human service field. However, in 2012, the organization experienced a natural disaster that threatened its stability and affected how needed service was given. In the years following, the response to disastrous weather was to close the facilities and leave the community without needed services. Developing an organizational continuity plan can help protect internal organizational infrastructure so that needed services are not disrupted after natural and manufactured disasters.

# **Summary**

The related literature on organizational continuity planning incorporates disaster and emergency management theory principles. The literature enabled leaders to understand organizational continuity planning, natural and manufactured disasters, and internal infrastructure. The information gathered enables small nonprofit organizations to create and implement an organizational continuity plan and prevent internal organizational infrastructure challenges and provision issues during natural and manufactured disasters.

# Section 3: Data Collection Process and Analysis

Internal organizational infrastructure issues plague small nonprofit organizations that do not have organizational continuity plans. Understanding the essential elements of organizational continuity planning allows leaders to provide needed services to their constituents during natural and manufactured disasters. This qualitative case study provided insight into the essential elements of continuity planning and how to create an organizational continuity plan for ABC. I answered the following research questions through qualitative interviews with local leaders who had worked in small nonprofit organizations:

RQ1: What internal organizational infrastructure challenges do organizational leaders face during natural or manufactured disasters?

RQ2: In what ways can organizational continuity planning assist nonprofit leaders in providing needed services during times of natural and manufactured disasters?

RQ3: What are the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan?

### **Research Design**

I sought to assist ABC in identifying the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan. Findings may help ABC understand the need for organizational continuity planning. This case study provided ABC with data and a report on the essential elements of organizational continuity planning that may aid in the challenges of internal infrastructure issues and provide needed services during natural and manufactured disasters.

I gathered data on the issues that arise when nonprofit organizations do not have organizational continuity planning and prepared a report on the essential elements of a viable organizational continuity plan. Also, by learning from leaders of other small nonprofit organizations that employ organizational continuity planning, I sought to help ABC be better prepared to work through natural and manufactured disasters. In Section 3, I describe the case study research method and procedures.

# Roles of the Researcher and Client Organization

The qualitative case study focused on ABC, a small nonprofit organization facing natural and manufactured disaster challenges. The need was to incorporate an organizational continuity plan to resolve internal organizational infrastructure issues and continue to supply needed services to its constituents after natural and manufactured disasters occur. This research was possible due to the consulting position given by ABC. My belief in helping the community and volunteering with different organizations to find older citizens resources led me to this agency years ago. However, although I had become familiar with ABC's staff members and leaders, I maintained an unbiased approach to collecting and analyzing data.

Small nonprofit organizations can better serve their communities when natural and manufactured disasters occur by implementing organizational continuity planning. In researching organizational continuity planning, I found that small nonprofit organizations that did not have organizational continuity planning experienced internal organizational infrastructure challenges, provisional challenges, and permanent closure. I had yet to determine whether organizational continuity planning works for all small nonprofit

organizations that have experienced natural and manufactured disasters; however, the literature reviewed in Section 2 indicated that small nonprofit organizations with organizational continuity planning are more likely to succeed. To alleviate bias, I posed the interview questions (see Appendix B) to leaders of small nonprofit organizations with continuity planning in an open-ended manner to allow the participants to answer the questions without being led by me.

### Methodology

When first researching evidence for this qualitative case study, I planned to use a combination of scholarly journals and semi-structured interviews that included openended questions to engage leaders and key stakeholders outside of ABC who had experience with nonprofit organizational continuity planning. I planned to document the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan so I could provide ABC with ways to address internal organizational infrastructure challenges and provisional challenges when natural and manufactured disasters occurred. A semi structured interview can be used to create rapport with the participant and elicit innovative ideas, whether by phone or in person (Harrell & Bradley, 2022). The participants in the current study were eight leaders from eight small nonprofit organizations in the Bronx, New York; all organizations had organizational continuity planning. I advised all participants in advance of the interview. All participants understood that their participation was confidential and voluntary.

#### **Protections**

ABC leaders and other small nonprofit organizational leaders who participated in this case study remained confidential. All information gathered, including locations, emails, and interview responses, was compiled on my computer, and only I had access to the data. To ensure participants' confidentiality, surnames, first names, and nicknames were not used. All research findings were shared only with Walden University and my committee members.

# **Participants**

Participants included eight leaders from eight local small nonprofit organizations in the Bronx, New York, with organizational continuity planning. Interviews addressed the essential elements of organizational continuity planning. Interviews allowed me to understand how ABC had been affected by natural and manufactured disasters and how they challenged the organization to provide needed services and mitigate internal organizational infrastructure issues. Exploratory interviews allow for open-ended questioning and focus on why and how; because this was a qualitative case study, exploratory interviews allow participants to engage with the research. Wells et al. (2014) found that using an exploratory interview on health care and healthcare-related issues could identify organizational strategies. I used the same approach to understand the strategy of organizational continuity planning for ABC.

## **Procedures**

In March 2023, I began my search for case study participants via LinkedIn, and eight case study participants agreed to participate in the case study. I created open-ended

interview questions to address the research questions based on associated concepts in Section 2. The open-ended questions were used to answer all research questions. All participants were emailed to ensure participation before the interview began. All participants outlined their leadership position and knowledge of organizational continuity planning, provisional issues in needed services, natural and manufactured disasters, and internal organizational infrastructure via phone call. Each participant signed an informed consent form to document participation. The interviews took place via phone conversation and were recorded and transcribed on the Otter.ai app. Each participant reviewed their transcript within 3 months to correct errors and allow the analysis to proceed. Each interview was allotted up to 30 minutes. However, each interview was 4–11 minutes long. Furthermore, participants were advised that the transcript review process would take 5–10 minutes.

Walden University's Institutional Review Board approved the case study, and eight leaders from local organizations were informed of their participation rights. All participants' consent forms were emailed, and an informed consent to advance was discussed and documented. I did not share the location of ABC and did not share any participant's information other than for the sole purpose of this administrative case study. All data compiled for this administrative case study, including names of the leaders' location and the name of the nonprofit organizations, remained confidential. All information gathered for this administrative case study was confidential and only shared with Walden University.

I completed transcription and coding using qualitative data analysis software. Many tools can be used to transcribe qualitative studies that require coding and analysis. Hopper et al. (2021) found that cloud-based tools are becoming more prevalent in research, which helps in data sharing. Before the interviews, all case study participants were asked if they had any questions about organizational continuity planning and natural and manufactured disasters; all case study participants stated no, and the interview began. The interview data were analyzed for keywords and patterns to identify themes that emerged. The findings will be shared with ABC in a PowerPoint presentation to document the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan.

### **Timeline**

Following approval from Walden University's Institutional Review Board, I conducted eight interviews with eight leaders from eight nonprofit organizations in The Bronx, New York. Interviews were conducted over 3 months due to the leaders' schedules and cancellations. Interviews took 4–11 minutes.

### **Protections**

The identities of ABC leaders and other small nonprofit organizational leaders who participated in this case study will remain confidential. All information gathered, including locations, emails, and interview responses, was compiled on my computer, with only me accessing the data. Participants are anonymous surnames, first names, and nicknames were not used. All research findings were shared only with Walden University and my committee members. All data was kept confidential, and all information was kept on my computer with a password that only I had. No identifiers were used for data

collection to keep all case study participants' identities confidential, and data collected will be kept for 5 years as required by Walden University. All case study participants were informed of their right to withdraw from the case study at any time. All participants agreed to audio-recorded interviews and to finish the case study interview.

# **Strategy for Data Analysis**

Data collection for this administrative case study was collected via interviews with eight leaders from eight small nonprofit organizations. After obtaining Walden University's Institutional Review Board approval (# 01-27-23-0724593), I analyzed the interview answers from the eight nonprofit leaders who participated. The assessment of all data was conducted without bias, and the completion of a report on organizational continuity plan for ABC included the areas of research and their connections to provisional challenges, internal organizational infrastructure issues, and natural and manufactured disasters.

Data is collected in qualitative research via interviews, focus groups, and field notes (Nassaj, 2015). Qualitative data analysis focused on transcripts from interviews.

Transcripts are raw data, and transcript data must be coded. Coding is a process in which qualitative researchers analyze data by remodeling all data in a meaningful way (Creswell, 2015). All eight interviews were analyzed, and data coding methods were used to identify patterns and themes. Findings will be presented to ABC via a PowerPoint presentation.

#### **Issues of Trustworthiness**

There are many issues of trustworthiness in qualitative research. Dutta and Ranjan (2019) found that although journal articles and qualitative data can enhance life experiences, one of the downfalls of qualitative research is that there needs to be replicability. Researchers take many steps to authenticate their case study findings, such as using member checking to add credibility to the findings. I ensured reliability and dependability of the case study findings by crisscrossing patterns and checking for themes. However, this does not ensure trustworthiness in qualitative data because no one is recreating the study. Many people may read the case study findings and assume a level of trustworthiness; however, the question remains. Before interviewing my participants, I used reflexivity to center myself and acknowledge my role as a researcher. After collecting interview data, I used transcript review and triangulation to add confirmability to the case study results. I also ensured data saturation before identifying patterns and themes.

### **Ethical Procedures**

All case study participants were treated with respect, beneficence, and justice. The ethical training from the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research allowed me to understand that ethical behavior in research is imperative. Furthermore, although there can be potential harm in qualitative research and interviewing case study participants, the risk was low. All case study participants were informed about the risk, and an informed consent was emailed to all participants for acknowledgement. Research has changed in the past 20 years, so case

study participants' treatment must change to meet ethical practices. Oswaldo (2021) found that the intricacies of qualitative research mixed with ethical behavior can sometimes be challenging to ethical principles due to the interactive nature of the researcher working with case study participants. However, I understood and treated everyone with respect, beneficence, and justice; all data were kept confidential and in a computer that I owns with a passcode only I had. Data will be kept for 5 years per Walden University requirements. Walden University and my committee members were the only ones to see data collected; all participants found on LinkedIn will remain confidential. There were no ethical concerns related to recruitment due to using LinkedIn. All participants emailed their informed consent to me.

# Summary

This administrative case study focused on ABC. I gathered data on the essential elements of organizational continuity planning and informed the organization on developing a viable organizational continuity plan. This information given to ABC may address provisional and internal organizational infrastructure issues when natural and manufactured disasters occur.

### Section 4: Evaluation and Recommendations

This qualitative case study was conducted to gather data on the issues that arise when nonprofit organizations do not have organizational continuity planning and data on the essential elements of a continuity plan. I sought to understand the negative effects that ABC and other nonprofit organizations face without continuity planning when natural and manufactured disasters occur. The essential elements of continuity planning were crucial in this qualitative case study. The literature demonstrated that the critical aspects of organizational continuity planning play a vital role in mitigating internal organizational infrastructure challenges during natural and manufactured disasters for small nonprofit organizations, making them resilient (De la Rosa Galey & Marie, 2019).

Eight case study participants from the Bronx, New York were interviewed via telephone within 3 months. The Otter.ai app was used for coding and inductive analysis. Inductive analysis identified patterns and themes to understand the essential elements of organizational continuity planning, which was the purpose of the case study. Inductive analysis is used in qualitative research to address unanswered questions. Skjott Linneberg and Korsgaard (2019) found that many students are novices and are (pseudonym) often exasperated in searching for patterns and themes. Nevertheless, finding the patterns and themes can tell the story of qualitative research. The patterns and themes often mentioned in the current study were communication, training, safety, and resources. Key patterns from the data should connect to the case study conceptual framework and the research questions. Johnson et al. (2019) found that in nonprofit organizations or the health field, a

research case study must have a clear focus and be supported by a firm conceptual framework to promote trustworthiness and diminish research bias.

#### **Data Collection**

In this qualitative case study, semi structured interviews were conducted via recorded telephone calls with eight leaders from eight nonprofit organizations throughout the Bronx, New York. All case study participants were found on a LinkedIn online professional platform. I sent 159 connection requests via LinkedIn. Seventy-one individuals accepted the connections. Sixty-three individuals did not qualify due to not working in the Bronx, New York. Twenty-five prospective participants answered the case study invitation (see Appendix A). Individuals interested in participating in the study were required to provide email addresses to establish consent.

Of the 25 participants who answered the case study invitation, eight provided email addresses. They read and signed the informed consent, returning it to me for finalizing the study sample. I interviewed eight leaders from eight nonprofit organizations in The Bronx, New York. Interviews with participants were scheduled over 3 months due to the leaders' schedules and cancellations. Thirty minutes were allotted for each interview. All case study participants agreed to the audio-recorded interview, which was done with my audio recorder.

The invitation for case study participants included the purpose of the case study and participant selection criteria; eight confirmed case study participants were asked three interview questions on organizational continuity planning during their audio-recorded telephone calls. I intended to conduct interviews via Zoom meetings, in-person

meetings, and telephone; however, due to scheduling, the eight participants elected to be interviewed via telephone. I coded the transcripts of the eight interviews to identify patterns and themes to determine the essential elements of organizational continuity planning. The insights provided by the case study participants in the interviews may help ABC leaders understand how organizational continuity planning is acceptable for the organization in addressing internal organizational infrastructure challenges while providing services to the community. I completed all interviews and shared the transcripts with the participants via email.

# **Data Analysis**

Inductive coding was used to develop codes based on semi structured interviews with the eight participants. I used inductive coding to find common patterns and themes. Inductive coding enabled me to detect patterns and themes in the data and helped me produce the final report (see Terry & Hayfield, 2020). When analyzing data from eight interviewed participants in this qualitative case study, I used inductive analysis to identify repeated patterns of words such as "communication," "resources," "safety," and "training." This information added knowledge to the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan for small nonprofit organizations. I interpreted the data in the context of the theory and the literature to safeguard the based on the interviews with eight nonprofit leaders to determine the essential elements of continuity planning for small nonprofit organizations.

# **Findings**

The critical themes are presented in this section. The three themes from this qualitative case study that ABC leaders should consider when creating an organizational continuity plan were effective communication, resources, and safety. Many small nonprofit organizations can avoid internal organizational infrastructure challenges if clear communication during natural and manufactured disasters is used. When assessing the challenges in small nonprofit organizations, six participants expressed that the lack of communication was a significant issue when daily operational procedures were affected during natural and manufactured disasters. Six participants reported that small nonprofit leaders need to express clear directives to employees regarding the procedures and whom to report to if they had a question. One case study participant stated that "although the procedures are written on paper, the processes during natural and manufactured disasters appeared different."

Four participants stated that resources assist leaders in providing needed services. However, one of the participants said that resources needed to be improved during COVID-19 due to the need for a forward-thinking approach. Buchholz et al. (2020) described leaders who use a forward-thinking approach to increase economic, environmental, and social performance during disasters. Current participants' consensus was that effective communication by leadership during a disaster will assist staff members. The impact of effective communication was an essential theme of the interview participants. One participant expressed the need for organizational continuity planning to

become a universal practice for small nonprofit organizations with leadership expressing clear directives and employees trained in advance for natural and manufactured disasters.

### **Deliverables and Recommendations**

Findings may encourage ABC to explore organizational continuity planning to resolve internal organizational infrastructure and provisional challenges when natural and manufactured disasters occur. The results will be presented as a PowerPoint presentation to ABC to help ABC consider the value of organizational continuity planning and the possibility of a successful outcome. Further research could consider the applicability of organizational continuity planning to understand the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan and the positive impact that it can have on communities needing services during times of natural and manufactured disasters and for small nonprofit organizations that struggle with internal organizational infrastructure challenges during times of crisis. The current study was conducted for the sole purpose of addressing one client organization in making a change to their community.

### **Organizational Continuity Planning**

Participants expressed the need for effective communication from organizational leaders during natural and manufactured disasters and noted that training could add value to organizational continuity planning for small nonprofit organizations. The organization should consider its financial resources and train workers who can effectively communicate during natural and manufactured disasters to manage response times and eliminate infrastructure challenges that impede delivery of needed services during disasters. Current findings may promote confidence in the nonprofit world when disaster

strikes and add to the understanding of essential elements needed to protect organizations by communication from authorities. Doing so may help ABC and other small nonprofits reduce fear and risk and produce stability for the organization and the workers in addressing internal organizational infrastructure challenges and provisional issues during natural and manufactured disasters. After the PowerPoint presentation is presented to ABC via email, ABC should create a proposal analyzing the costs associated with the organizational continuity plans that best fit their organization's needs that incorporate city, state, and federal laws.

This case study did not address how many nonprofit organizations in the Bronx, New York do not have organizational continuity planning, which may affect the outcome of small nonprofit organizations' health in the survival of natural and manufactured disasters. Although there was an interest in creating a universal plan with effective communication and training for all small nonprofit organizations, the data was collected for academic research. It is unknown whether small nonprofit organizations in the Bronx, New York would be interested in organizational continuity planning if all expressed questions were addressed.

# Interview Question 1

What internal organizational infrastructure challenges do organizational leaders face during natural or manufactured disasters? I analyzed data from the eight interviewees to determine significant themes. Five out of eight participants stated that communication was a challenge. One participant stated that nonprofit organizations have a plan in place. However, one of the barriers is that staff need to understand it. Another

participant stated that proactive planning was an issue because nonprofits are reactionary, not proactive, planners. The other participants stated that safety was challenging due to a lack of resources, while one stated that not having flexibility within a continuity plan was a challenge.

# Interview Question 2

In what ways can organizational continuity planning assist nonprofit leaders in providing needed services during times of natural and manufactured disasters. Five out of eight participants stated that resources would assist nonprofit leaders, while one participant felt that training would help leaders. One participant stated that improving overall competence and in-house training would assist leaders in providing needed services. Another participant said relationships with other organizations and agencies in their community would assist nonprofit leaders in providing needed services during natural and manufactured disasters. A third participant stated that knowledge could help in anticipating what can happen, allowing for preparations.

### Interview Question 3

What are the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan? One participant stated that distributing information to all staff members and using strong communication is essential to organizational continuity planning. Another participant agreed on communication but stated that having a well-equipped staff to understand continuity planning is essential. Two participants specified safety as the essential element of continuity planning.

Practical communication skills include listening to others rather than responding; with effective communication, listening skills enable communication in all work and life areas. However, in the medical field and after COVID-19, many clinicians changed how they communicated with patients. Many clinicians had training and could help clients understand their medical procedures and diagnoses, while those who needed proper training could not (Back et al., 2020). Although there were other answers to these questions, such as resources and training, the consensus of the current participants was that communication was the essential element of a continuity plan.

All eight participants work in the Bronx, New York, one of the poorest boroughs in the five boroughs of New York City. The participants included four men and four women from different ethnicities, ages, genders, cultural backgrounds, and educational attainments. The support that participants expressed for training to provide needed services to constituents and to share effective communication with leadership during disasters was considered a critical factor in resolving issues in how some constituents received needed service and how leadership communicated directives. The answers to the research questions will be presented to ABC in a PowerPoint Presentation.

One participant summed up effective communication by saying there is a "sense of safety when there is effective communication. A work environment where leaders institute effective communication permits all workers to feel safe and loved in their spaces." Providing data to ABC on organizational continuity planning and using the methods that case study participants expressed in the case study may result in small nonprofit organizations' abilities to perform daily operations and remain open when a

disaster occurs, which will resolve internal organizational infrastructure challenges and provisional challenges that small nonprofit organizations face during natural and manufactured disasters. Findings may address the essential elements of organizational continuity planning, thereby enhancing the organization's ability to carry out its mission and positively impact social change.

### **Interview Themes**

Effective communication was a significant finding in this qualitative case study that ABC leaders should consider when evaluating the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan. Many small nonprofit organizations can avoid internal organizational infrastructure challenges if organizational leaders use clear communication during natural and manufactured disasters. When assessing the challenges in small nonprofit organizations, 6 interviewed participants expressed that the lack of communication was a significant issue when daily operational procedures were affected during natural and manufactured disasters. 6 interviewed participants believed that small nonprofit leaders needed to express clear directives to employees on what the procedures are and who is the one that they come to if they had a question. One case study participant stated, "The procedures written on paper from leadership are different in real-time, which is confusing to me.

Nevertheless, the participant's consensus in this case study is that effective communication by leadership during a disaster will help assistant leaders during natural and manufactured disasters. The impact of effective communication was an essential theme of the interview participants. The need for organizational continuity planning to

become a universal practice for small nonprofit organizations with leadership expressing clear directives and with employees trained in advance for natural and manufactured disasters was imperative. Effective communication for ABC and small nonprofit organizations help to develop an understanding between employees and their leaders when natural and manufactured disasters occur. Effective communication permits employees to exchange ideas in a way that promotes positive interactions and allows for clear directives. The thought of effective communication has been a staple in the workforce for years. It is a supportive tool used by hospitals, the private, and the public sectors. (Gluyas, 2015).

#### **Evidence of Trustworthiness**

Qualitative research seeks practical standards: validity, credibility, and generalizability. These three ingredients are vital in qualitative research due to the measurements of trustworthiness in qualitative analysis. Qualitative research aims to answer who, where, when, why, and how to explain or negate a theory. To perform an analysis that equates to trustworthiness requires a logical measure of reliability which equates to the consistency of measured data, and validity, which equates to the accuracy of data collected. Validity is the estimation of consistent data with no bias in collecting data from the study's outcome. Reliability produces a consistent result that generates accuracy. When both are factored in, it produces trustworthiness. Reliability for qualitative research will provide the case study with the same results when the circumstance is the same for anyone performing the analysis (Belotto, 2018). I ensured the quality and reliability of the information obtained for this case study by performing

professional interviews, member checking, and document reviews. The targeted audience for the case study research was nonprofit organizational leaders in the Bronx, New York, with eight members from small nonprofit organizations participating in this case study. In evaluating the credibility of data collection, the researcher emailed case study participants transcripts of their interviews after audio-recorded data was transcribed. The case study members were asked via email if this was an authentic account of what each case study participant said.

Member-checking is a tool that applies accuracy to data collected from interviewed case study participants. Although few published articles on the tangible outcomes of member-checking, many consider this a trustworthy process for identifying accurate data in qualitative research. (Candela, 2019). The conclusions of the value of the study are only credible when data has been effectively transcribed and approved by the individual case study participants. Different viewpoints can influence the researcher's interpretation, so member-checking aids in accurate information from case study participants' statements during interviews. (Motulsky, 2021). The case study participants are the only ones that can authenticate the credibility of the results because they are the individuals that participated in the interview; all eight case study participants confirmed credibility. Keep in mind that, at times, the case study participants and the interviewer can interact in a manner that can be considered a relationship of closeness, raising concerns about internal validity and reliability. To prevent that, with the case study found, the internal validity of data must accurately match the data collected and show that the analysis answers the research question without discriminatory intent. In comparison,

they allow the eternal validity to examine the case study findings to be used in worldwide circumstances using the same data. The transferability of the research findings is the principle for evaluating external validity. A study meets the applicability standard when the qualitative results can fit into circumstances outside the study situation and can find a detailed description of the case study participant's responses. Transferability in qualitative research enables the researcher to determine if the findings are meaningful and relevant to their experiences. Hammarberg et al. (2016) note that more times than none, quantitative research is viewed as shallow and thoughtless. The main ingredient must be consistent logical patterns, or the data findings should be kept from being published. I ensured transferability by transcribing all audio-recorded interviews to the Otter app ai. The Otter app is an application that allows interviews with case study participants to provide an accurate collection of qualitative data. Confirmability in qualitative research is an effective model that enables the results of the case study through the collaboration of the participants. It ensures that qualitative data are analyzed for patterns that can repeat themselves to find the same outcome by other researchers.

Clear coding was identified when analyzing patterns and themes, allowing the researcher to identify schematic findings. I also asked case study participants direct questions during the interview and ensured that their viewpoints were accurate accounts of what they said, not what I perceived them to say. Interviewing all case study participants in this approach allowed for the precision of data collected and accounts for any preconceived perceptions or feelings that I may have that are due to my personal beliefs. Dependability in qualitative research allows for the reliability of the findings. A

perfect example is if a researcher can no longer participate in a case study, could other researchers find the exact outcome of the case study? Triangulations help case studies find dependability which then creates trustworthiness. Auditing is implemented in data to help with the Audit trail. The audit trail records information about the notes gathered and the procedure and developments involved in the project to determine processes and procedures. Carcary (2020) described the audit trail as a process that should be analyzed while writing the case study to help the researchers process their feelings. An audit trail is an acknowledgment of transactions and procedures made to record the steps taken in collecting materials to prevent fraud, which aids in the authentication of data collected; I used email and the Otter app ai to document transactions of interviews from case study participants.

Reflexivity in qualitative research allows the researcher to understand that feelings and thoughts are factored into the research due to preconceived notions and experiences. These experiences can affect the outcome of the case study due to the researcher's viewpoint. Researchers must be honest and ask themselves, do their assumptions, ideas, and experiences affect the outcome of the case study. Using prospective and retrospective speech can help the researcher determine the effects of the case study or the effects that the case study has on the researcher. When all procedures in qualitative analysis, including credibility, transferability, dependability, audit trail, and reflexivity in case study research, are used, the researchers have established the necessary protocols to determine trustworthiness in the research studied. (Adler, 2022).

# Strengths and Limitations of the Study

This qualitative case study bridges the gap between small nonprofit organizations and the community they serve. The data shows that small nonprofit organizations with organizational continuity planning have a higher success rate in helping their communities during natural and manufactured disasters. The data collected helped ABC and other small nonprofit organizations in the Bronx, New York establish and value organizational continuity planning to prevent internal infrastructure challenges and provisional challenges for the community and aid in understanding the essential elements of organizational continuity planning. One of the limitations of this case study was that very few leaders from the Bronx, New York, agreed to participate in the case study. The data collected is a small fraction of what other nonprofit organizations in the Bronx, New York, might experience when natural and manufactured disasters occur. However, the findings demonstrated that organizational continuity planning empowers small nonprofit organizations to provide for their communities during natural and manufactured disasters. This case study can help the nonprofit world for all five boroughs of New York City. It can increase the likelihood of a prosperous future for ABC and small nonprofit organizations throughout New York City. Individuals interested in owning a small nonprofit organization may also be interested in the findings of this report, specifically the role that organizational continuity planning plays in aiding small nonprofits when natural and manufactured disasters occur. The product of this study might be shared in strategic planning or the context of academic research or references in natural and manufactured disasters.

# **Summary**

Section 4 presented the study's findings and identified themes by integrating, synthesizing, and evaluating the eight interviews. Section 4 also suggested the steps to support the need for organizational continuity planning for small nonprofit organizations and conducted a case study on the infrastructure and provisional challenges to identify the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan. Section 5 describes the study conclusions and dissemination plan and recommended audiences for this research.

#### Section 5: Dissemination Plan

#### **Dissemination Plan**

I will present the case study findings to the leadership at ABC in a PowerPoint presentation. This presentation will convey the importance of organizational continuity planning and its positive effect on small nonprofit organizations and their communities. The essential elements of a continuity plan were to minimize internal organizational infrastructure challenges and to provide needed services to constituents when natural and manufactured disasters occur. Leaders in the Bronx, New York must recognize that effective communication in times of crisis is vital in protecting the organization and its staff members. This qualitative case study's outcomes may change ABC leadership's behavior by encouraging them to implement organizational continuity planning to address infrastructure challenges that will improve the community's health by receiving needed services when natural and manufactured disasters occur.

Organizational continuity planning for small nonprofit organizations adds to the safety and health of the community and the organization. An effective response to the destruction from natural and manufactured disasters promotes healthier generations and establishes wealth in communities affected by the damage. Effective communication by small nonprofit organizational leaders helps the communities they serve feel safe during natural and manufactured disasters. Communities that trust their local organizations to provide needed services when disasters strike provide a sense of peace and improve quality of life. Bronx, New York has been described as the poorest of the five boroughs of New York City, with children suffering from lack of food and poor education. Small

nonprofit organizations that provide needed services can reduce starvation and improve grades. Small nonprofit organizations that implement organizational continuity planning are essential in the health of both the organization and their communities.

### **Summary**

This case study indicated that organizational continuity plans are positive tools for small nonprofit organizations and their survival against natural and manufactured disasters. Some small nonprofit organizations in the Bronx, New York may consider introducing organizational continuity planning to avoid internal organizational infrastructure challenges and to avoid provisional challenges that undermine the mission of nonprofit organizations. A systematic protocol of organizational continuity plans can be used as a guideline for all nonprofits that do not have organizational continuity planning in place to avoid shutdowns and permanent closure. This additional protection for small nonprofit organizations may increase its impact on social change, allowing lowincome communities to continue to benefit from the resources that small nonprofit organizations provide. This case study illustrated that small nonprofit organizations are looking to understand the implications of organizational continuity planning for consistency in purpose. There are conditions in which this case study may be suitable for small nonprofits, but financial planning must be considered. In the appropriate circumstances, organizational continuity planning may help small nonprofit organizations fulfill their mission and continue to help their constituents.

#### References

- Adler, R. H. (2022). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Human Lactation*, *38*(4), 598–602. https://doi.org/10.1177/08903344221116620
- Back, A., Tulsky, J. A., & Arnold, R. M. (2020). Communication skills in the age of COVID-19. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.7326/M20-1376
- Belotto, M. (2018). Data analysis methods for qualitative research: Managing the challenges of coding, interrater reliability, and thematic analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2622–2633. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3492
- Bennett, R. (2016). Factors contributing to the early failure of small new charity start-ups. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 23(2), 333–348. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-11-2013-0173
- Bodrožić, Z., & Adler, P. S. (2017). The evolution of management models: A neo-Schumpeterian theory. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 63(1), 85–129. https://doi.org/10.1177/0001839217704811
- Buchholz, H., Eberle, T., Klevesath, M., Jürgens, A., Beal, D., Baic, A., & Radeke, J. (2020). Forward thinking for sustainable business value: A new method for impact valuation. *Sustainability*, 12(20), 8420. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/su12208420">https://doi.org/10.3390/su12208420</a>.
- Candela, A. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3). https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726
- Carcary, M. (2020). The research audit trail: Methodological guidance for application in practice. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 18(2).

# https://doi.org/10.34190/jbrm.18.2.008

- Cerullo, V., & Cerullo, M. J. (2014). Business continuity planning: A comprehensive approach. *Information Systems Management*, 21(3), 70–78. https://doi.org/10.1201/1078/44432.21.3.20040601/82480.11
- Chang, C. L. H., & Lin, T. C. (2015). The role of organizational culture in the knowledge management process. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, *19*(3), 433–455. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-08-2014-0353
- Chikoto, G. L., Sadiq, A.-A., & Fordyce, E. (2012). Disaster mitigation and preparedness.

  \*Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly, 42(2), 391–410.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0899764012452042
- Creswell, J. (2015). 30 essential skills for the qualitative researcher. SAGE.
- de la Rosa Galey, & Marie, D. (2019) Organizational resilience; business continuity [Preprint]. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2172/1574170">https://doi.org/10.2172/1574170</a>
- Dutta, A., & Ranjan, P. (2019) A qualitative study on understanding the trustworthiness of online reputation management. *International Journal of Qualitative Research* in Services, 3(2), 125. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijqrs.2019.10025484
- Ebneyamini, S., & Sadeghi Moghadam, M. R. (2018). Toward developing a framework for conducting case study research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 160940691881795. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918817954">https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918817954</a>
- Feng, X., & Behar-Horenstein, L. (2019). Maximizing NVivo utilities to analyze openended responses. *The Qualitative Report*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3692">https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3692</a>

- Gin, J. L., Eisner, R. K., Der-Martirosian, C., Kranke, D., & Dobalian, A. (2018).

  Preparedness is a marathon, not a sprint: A tiered maturity model for assessing preparedness in homeless residential organizations in Los Angeles. *Natural Hazards Review*, 19(1). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)nh.1527-6996.0000276">https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)nh.1527-6996.0000276</a>
- Gulyas, H. (2015). Effective communication and teamwork promote patient safety.

  Nursing Standard, 29(49), 50–57. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7748/ns.29.49.50.e10042">https://doi.org/10.7748/ns.29.49.50.e10042</a>
- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & De Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods:

  When to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, *31*(3), 498–501.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334">https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334</a>
- Harrell, M., & Bradley, M. (2022). *Data collection methods: Semi-structured interviews* and focus groups. <a href="https://www.rand.org/pubs/technical\_reports/TR718.html">https://www.rand.org/pubs/technical\_reports/TR718.html</a>
- Hopper, T. *et al.* (2021). YouTube for transcribing and Google Drive for collaborative coding: Cost-effective tools for collecting and analyzing interview data. *The Qualitative Report* [Preprint]. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2021.4639
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2019). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(1), 7120. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120">https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120</a>
- Josephson, A., Schrank, H., & Marshall, M. (2017). Assessing preparedness of small businesses for Hurricane disasters: Analysis of pre-disaster owner, business, and location characteristics. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 23, 25-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2017.03.013
- Kato, M., & Charoenrat, T. (2018). Business continuity management of small and

- Medium Sized Enterprises: Evidence from Thailand. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 27, 577–587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2017.10.002
- Klijn, F., Kreibich, H., de Moel, H., & Penning-Rowsell, E. (2015). Adaptive Flood risk management planning based on a comprehensive flood risk conceptualization.
  Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, 20(6), 845–864.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-015-9638-z">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-015-9638-z</a>
- Kivilä, J., Martinsuo, M., & Vuorinen, L. (2017). Sustainable project management through project control in infrastructure projects. *International Journal of Project Management*, 35(6), 1167-1183.

Katrina. *Natural Hazards*, 85(3), 1637-1663. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-016-2652-y">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-016-2652-y</a> Muflihah, Y., & Subriadi, A. (2018). A basic element of IT business continuity plan: Systematic review. Jurnal Informatika, 12(1), 17–23

Motulsky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 389–406.

<a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215">https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215</a>

https://doi.org/10.26555/jifo.v12i1.a8370

- Nickels, A. E., & Clark, A. D. (2019). Framing the Flint water crisis: Interrogating local nonprofit sector responses. *Administrative Theory & Praxis*, 41(3), 200-224.
- Nassaji, H. (2015). Qualitative and descriptive research: Data type versus data analysis.

  \*\*Language Teaching Research, 19(2), 129-132.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168815572747
- Ono, T., & Watanabe, K. (2017). Area Business Continuity Management Approach to

- build sustainable communities. *Journal of Disaster Research*, 12(4), 806–810. https://doi.org/10.20965/jdr.2017.p0806
- Oswaldo, L.-Q. (2021a) 'Ethical principles and challenges for qualitative researchers',

  \*Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, pp. 1–10. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-70187-1\_1
- Păunescu, C., & Argatu, R. (2020). Critical functions in ensuring effective business continuity management. evidence from Romanian companies. *Journal of Business Economics and Management*, 21(2), 497–520.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3846/jbem.2020.12205">https://doi.org/10.3846/jbem.2020.12205</a>
- Penta, S., Marlowe, V. G., Gill, K., & Kendra, J. (2017). Of Earthquakes and Epidemics: Examining the Applicability of the All-Hazards Approach in Public Health Emergencies. *Risk, Hazards & Crisis in Public Policy*, 8(1), 48–67. https://doi.org/10.1002/rhc3.12112
- Sanders, J. (2016). Defining terms: Data, information and knowledge. 2016 SAI Computing Conference (SAI). https://doi.org/10.1109/sai.2016.7555986
- Seaberg, D., Devine, L., & Zhuang, J. (2017). A review of game theory applications in natural disaster management research. *Natural Hazards*, 89(3), 1461-1483. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-017-3033-x
- Skjott Linneberg, M. and Korsgaard, S. (2019) 'Coding qualitative data: A synthesis guiding the novice', *Qualitative Research Journal*, 19(3), pp. 259–270. doi:10.1108/qrj-12-2018-0012
- Sydnor, S., Niehm, L., Lee, Y., Marshall, M., & Schrank, H. (2016). Analysis of post-

- disaster damage and disruptive impacts on the operating status of small businesses after Hurricane Katrina. *Natural Hazards*, 85(3), 1637-1663. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-016-2652-y
- Terry, G., & Hayfield, N. (2021). Conceptual foundations of thematic analysis. *Essentials of Thematic Analysis.*, 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1037/0000238-001.
- Tracey, S., O'Sullivan, T. L., Lane, D. E., Guy, E., & Courtemanche, J. (2017).

  Promoting resilience using an asset-based approach to business continuity planning. *SAGE Open*, 7(2), 215824401770671.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244017706712">https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244017706712</a>
- Tucker, E. (2015). Business continuity plans and procedures. *Business Continuity from Preparedness to Recovery*, 129–159. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-420063-0.00008-5">https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-420063-0.00008-5</a>
- Thompson, R. R., Garfin, D. R., & Silver, R. C. (2016). Evacuation from natural disasters: A systematic review of the literature. *Risk Analysis*, *37*(4), 812–839. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12654">https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12654</a>
- Wells, S., Rozenblum, R., Park, A., Dunn, M., & Bates, D. W. (2014). Organizational strategies for promoting patient and provider uptake of personal health records.

  \*\*Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association, 22(1), 213–222.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1136/amiajnl-2014-003055
- Yusrida Muflihah, & Apol Pribadi Subriadi. (2018). A basic element of it business continuity plan: systematic review. *Jurnal Informatika*, 12(1), 17–23. https://doi.org/10.26555/jifo.v12i1.a8370

Appendix A: Letter of Invitation

Dear Sir,

I invite you to participate in a research study that relates to organizational continuity planning for small nonprofit organizations. My name is Lucy Castro, and I am a Doctoral Candidate at Walden University. In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of a Doctor of Public Administration degree, I am conducting a research study on organizational continuity planning. I am inviting 10-15 Leaders from five local small nonprofit organizations in the Bronx, New York that have experience in organizational continuity planning. I am asking for your participation in this study. I will conduct one on one interviews that may take up to 30 minutes of your time, on a date and time selected by you and in person.

The interview process will also include a follow-up meeting over the phone to share the initial study findings, and seek your opinion about the data collection analysis, and findings.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me via telephone or email. This invitation is to stimulate your interest in participating in the research. I look forward to working with you.

Sincerely,

Lucy Castro

# Appendix B: Interview Questions

I will present the following interview questions to each interview participant.

IQ1: What internal organizational infrastructure challenges do organizational leaders face during natural or manufactured disasters?

IQ2: In what ways can organizational continuity planning assist nonprofit leaders in providing needed services during times of natural and manufactured disasters.

IQ3: What are the essential elements of an organizational continuity plan?